Guidelines for the Care of Lesbian, Gay and Bisexual Patients in Primary Care



Royal College of General Practitioners



Royal College of General Practitioners

Foreword

The Royal College of General Practitioners Northern Ireland (RCGPNI) developed these guidelines to assist general practitioners and other healthcare professionals to provide the best care possible to members of the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Trans* community. Through the collaborative work of the Royal College of General Practitioners in Northern Ireland Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual &/ Trans* (LGB &/T) working group, it is hoped that these guidelines will create a positive change in the way LGB &/T people are cared for within the health service in Northern Ireland.

The RCGPNI would like to acknowledge the support received from the Public Health Agency NI which facilitated the development of this project.

The RCGPNI would also like to take this opportunity to recognise the Irish College of General Practitioners for the information and advice provided in the initial development stages of the Guidelines for the Care of Lesbians, Gay and Bisexual Patients in Primary Care.

Our Vision

Excellence in general practice for patients worldwide.

Our Values

The RCGP is the heart and voice of general practice.

- We promote the principles of holistic generalist care in partnership with other health professionals and our patients.
- We are committed to equitable access to, and delivery of, high-quality and effective primary health care for all.
- We are committed to the academic and practical development of high-quality general practice.

Our purpose and strategic aims

To promote the best possible quality of health and health care for the population by:

- setting the highest standards for general practice
- ensuring that GPs have the best possible training
- supporting GPs throughout their professional lives to deliver the best possible service
- leading the professionals and demonstrating the value of general practice
- developing general practice as the foundation of effective and sustainable primary care worldwide
- using resources efficiently to support our members and develop the College sustainability.

Contents

Terminology and Acronyms	. 2
Introduction	. 3
Social Issues	3
Consultation Issues	. 4
Health Screening	5
Smoking, Drug & Alcohol Addiction	6
Smoking	6
Drugs	6
Alcohol	. 7
Mental Health	7
Sexual Health	
Men who have Sex with Men (MSM)	. 9
Post-Exposure Prophylaxis	. 11
Lesbian and Bisexual (LB) Women and Sexual Health	. 11
Conclusion	. 12
Additional Resources	13
Appendix 1: Sexual History Taking	14
Appendix 2: Assessment for Post-Exposure Prophylaxis (PEP)	15
References	. 16
Acknowledgements	

Terminology and Acronyms

- **Sexual Orientation** A person's attraction, whether emotional, psychological and/or physical to people of the opposite and/or same gender
- **Gender Identity** A person's innate, deeply felt psychological identification as a man, woman or some other gender, which may or may not correspond to the sex assigned to them at birth
- LB Lesbian or Bisexual
- LGB Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual
- LGB &/T Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual &/Transgender
- **Trans*** Transgender or Trans* is the umbrella term given to describe individuals, behaviours and groups whose gender identity is different from the sex assigned to them at birth and/or describes individuals, behaviours and groups whose gender identity does not conform to conventional notions of male and female. For more information on care of Trans* patients, please see the accompanying RCGPNI guideline.¹
- STI Sexually Transmitted Infection
- MSM Men who have sex with other men
- WSW Women who have sex with other women
- GUM Genito-Urinary Medicine
- BASHH British Association for Sexual Health & HIV
- NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

Introduction

Estimating the number of LGB people in the United Kingdom and Northern Ireland (NI) is difficult. It depends on people surveyed identifying as LGB and then feeling able to disclose this. In the Integrated Household Survey of 2013, 1.6% of UK adults identified as LGB.² This is thought to be an underestimate, with both Stonewall and the UK Treasury estimating 5-7%.³ This means that a Northern Ireland general practice with a list size of 5000 patients will have 250-350 LGB patients. These guidelines have been designed to highlight the specific health needs of this patient population and go some way to identifying possible strategies for improving their care. Information specific to Trans* Patients can be found in the Guidelines for the Care of Trans* Patients in Primary Care.¹

We hope that these guidelines will be useful to the entire primary care team.

Social Issues

LGB people can experience invisibility, violence, discrimination and prejudice throughout their lives. These experiences of intolerance can impact negatively on their emotional health and wellbeing.⁴

It is often during school years that people become aware of their minority sexual orientation and/or gender identity. The `Through our Minds' study of the experiences of LGB &/T people in Northern Ireland asked people about their experiences of school. More than 60% reported being called hurtful names related to sexual orientation and/or gender identity.⁴

65.8% of LGB &/T people reported being verbally assaulted at least once due to their actual/or perceived sexual orientation and/or gender identity.

Through Our Minds – The Rainbow Project⁴

LGB &/T people were also found to have had negative experiences in their everyday lives related to their actual or perceived sexual orientation and/or gender identity. These negative experiences included being threatened with physical violence or discrimination when accessing goods, facilities or services. One third had been threatened with `being outed' at least once.⁴

Social isolation can be a problem for LGB people. One study found that 41% of LGB people over the age of 55 live alone, compared to 28% of heterosexual people the same age.⁵ Social isolation can be felt by LGB people of all ages and can be a particular problem in rural areas.⁶

50% of gay and bisexual men have experienced at least one incident of domestic abuse from a family member or partner since the age of sixteen.

Gay and Bisexual Men's Health Survey – Stonewall⁷

Domestic abuse in LGB communities often goes unreported and may be in the form of verbal, emotional or physical abuse.⁶⁷⁸

Consultation Issues

Gay and bisexual men are more likely to be 'out' to their manager, work colleagues, family and friends than their GP.

Gay and Bisexual Men's Health Survey – Stonewall⁷

If patients feel able to disclose their sexual orientation to their GP, issues that disproportionately impact on their health can be identified and discussed. 'Coming out' is not a single event for LGB &/T people, it is something they are required to do repeatedly over the course of their lives.

There are a number of ways a practice can demonstrate an open and inclusive clinical environment to LGB &/T patients:

- Allow LGB &/T patients to self-identify on new patient enrolment forms if they choose to do so.
- Practices could consider how they record or code that patients are LGB &/T after gaining consent to do so from the patient.
- Reception staff should demonstrate positive attitudes and use sensitive language.
- Sexual orientation training could be considered for all primary care staff.
- Posters and leaflets reflecting LGB &/T issues can be displayed in the waiting room.
- Sexual orientation and gender should be included in the anti-discrimination policy and it should be clearly displayed.
- Include LGB &/T patients in patient participation groups.

During a consultation, it is important not to make assumptions about a patient's sexual orientation or to assume they are heterosexual. It is important to facilitate disclosure but also to respect non-disclosure. A GP can make it easier for patients to disclose or talk about their sexual orientation by:

- Assuring the patient that consultations are confidential.
- Adopting a non-judgemental attitude.
- Using open questions such as "Do you have a partner?"
- Using gender-neutral, inclusive terminology.

One third of gay and bisexual men, who had accessed healthcare services in the last year, had a negative experience related to their sexual orientation.

Gay and Bisexual Men's Health Survey – Stonewall⁷

Where a patient chooses to disclose their sexual orientation as LGB it is important that this is acknowledged and the terms they use clarified. They can then be offered information relevant to their sexual orientation and this should not focus solely on their sexual health. LGB patients report finding it difficult to bring a same sex partner to their consultation and should be encouraged to do so if they would find it helpful.⁷⁸

When treating a child with same-sex parents, family diversity can be respected by involving the non-biological parent in the discussion.

GPs need to be aware of the need to support parents and other family members of teenagers who are `coming out' as LGB (see additional resources page).

Health Screening

20% of LB women have been told they don't need a smear by a healthcare professional.

Prescription for change - Stonewall⁸

Lesbian and female Bisexual patients are also less likely to have had a cervical smear than women in general.⁸ The Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) is sexually transmitted and HPV is a large causative factor in cell dyskaryosis and in the development of cervical cancer.⁹¹⁰ We know that WSW may or may not identify as L, G or B. LB women may be having penetrative sex with a man or have done so in the past. Other LB women may never have had sex with a man, but these patients can transmit HPV and STIs to their female partner from their sexual practice e.g. oral sex or sharing sex toys without use of a condom.⁸ The Northern Ireland Cervical screening programme offers screening by cervical smear tests to all women aged 25–64.⁹ The programme is inclusive of Lesbian and Bisexual women. Girls who identify as LB should also be included in the HPV vaccination programme.

GPs and GP employed nurses should:

- Offer all women aged 25–64 a cervical smear regardless of their sexual orientation.
- Offer women information about safer sex practices to reduce risk of acquiring HPV regardless of their sexual orientation.
- Ask inclusive questions when history taking around the smear test e.g. "Are you sexually active at present?" and if yes, "Do you have a regular partner?" making sure not to assume heterosexuality.

Lesbian and bisexual women aged 50-79 are more likely to develop breast cancer than women in general.

Prescription for change – Stonewall⁸

This is despite having similar rates of breast screening to the general population in that age group.⁸¹¹Breast cancer is the second most common form of cancer among women in Northern Ireland.¹¹The Northern Ireland breast screening programme provides breast screening every three years for all eligible women in Northern Ireland aged 50 and over.¹¹

GPs and GP employed nurses should:

• Educate all eligible women about breast screening and breast awareness, regardless of their sexual orientation.

For specific information relating to health screening for Trans* patients please refer to the Trans* specific guidelines.¹

Smoking, Drug & Alcohol Addiction

Smoking

44% of LGB &/T people in Northern Ireland smoke compared to 24% of general population.

All Partied Out? - The Rainbow Project¹² NISRA¹³

In the LGB &/T population, the ratio of women to men who smoke was approximately equal and 69% of LGB &/T smokers want to quit.¹²

Drugs

62% of LGB &/T people in Northern Ireland have taken an illegal drug in their lifetime, compared to 22% of the general population.

All Partied Out? - The Rainbow Project¹² NACD & PHIRB¹⁴

There is a high risk behaviour becoming an increasing issue within the MSM community called "chemsex".¹⁵ It is a term commonly used by gay or bisexual men to describe sex that occurs under the influence of drugs.¹⁵

Substance misuse is not, however, solely a problem of MSM. The LGB &/T population use all types of illegal drugs more than the general population.¹² These drugs include cannabis, sedatives and opiates as well as `recreational' drugs such as poppers and ecstasy.¹²

The reasons for higher substance misuse appear to be multifactorial. The statistics challenge the belief that higher rates of substance misuse can be solely attributed to the 'gay scene' of bars and night clubs or chemsex.

The disparity between levels of substance misuse in the LGB &/T population and the general population are highest in the 15-24 year old age group. It can be speculated that this is due to these young people coming to terms with their sexual orientation and the stress of `coming out' to family and friends.¹²

LGB &/T people are also less likely to access substance misuse services, often for fear of discrimination. $^{\rm 12}$

GPs and GP employed nurses should:

- Be aware of the higher rate of substance misuse in the LGB &/T population.
- Be aware that LGB &/T people may find it more difficult to seek help and access services.

Alcohol

91% of LBG &/T people in Northern Ireland drank alcohol regularly compared to 74% of the general population.

All Partied Out? - The Rainbow Project ¹² DHSSPS ¹⁶

13% of the LGB &/T population report daily drinking compared to 6% of the general population of Northern Ireland. 57% of LGB &/T respondents reported drinking to a hazardous level.¹²

GPs and GP employed nurses should:

• Be aware of the higher rate of alcohol use in the LGB &/T population and screen as felt appropriate.

Mental Health

Almost half (46.9%) of LGB &/T respondents disclosed a history of suicidal ideation.

Through Our Minds - The Rainbow Project⁴

Minority stress is a term used to describe the mental health consequences of stigmatisation, social exclusion, discrimination and harassment of minority groups. Research consistently shows that the LGB &/T population are at increased risk of depression, self-harm and suicide when compared to heterosexual people. One meta-analysis showed a twofold increase in suicide attempts in the preceding year in both men and women and a fourfold lifetime increase in gay and bisexual men.¹⁷

'Through Our Minds' was a study of the emotional health and well-being of the LGB &/T population in Northern Ireland.³ Of those who responded:

- 70.9% had experienced or were experiencing depression
- 35.3% disclosed a history of self-harm
- 25.7% had attempted suicide at least once

It is worth noting that 78.2% of patients who sought help with their depression chose to present to their GP as did 54.4% of those who asked for help following a suicide attempt.⁴

Gay and bisexual men are more likely to suffer from eating disorders. One in seven (13%) have had a problem with their weight or eating in the last year compared to 4% of men in general.⁷

Being lesbian, gay or bisexual relates to sexual orientation. It is not a mental illness and cannot be 'cured'. Despite this, voluntary agencies in Northern Ireland still report meeting individuals who have been subjected to 'conversion therapy', also known as 'reparative' or 'gay-cure' therapy. A consensus statement prepared by the UK Council for Psychotherapy has condemned such practices.¹⁸

This is supported by the Royal College of Psychiatrists which states:

"The Royal College of Psychiatrists believes strongly in evidence-based treatment. There is no sound scientific evidence that sexual orientation can be changed. Furthermore, so-called treatments of homosexuality create a setting in which prejudice and discrimination flourish."¹⁹

GPs should:

- Be aware of the increased risk of depression, self-harm, and suicidal ideation in LGB &/T patients and screen patients for mental health risk factors if appropriate.
- Recognise that conversion therapy is ineffective, inappropriate and potentially damaging.

Sexual Health

44% of gay and bisexual men have never discussed STIs with a healthcare professional.

Gay and Bisexual Men's Health Survey – Stonewall⁷

Where does general practice fit in to sexual health services? RCGP have published a BASHH approved document 'Sexually Transmitted Infections in Primary Care 2013'.²⁰ It provides a practical approach to STI screening and management in primary care for all patients.

GPs providing sexual health services to LGB patients should:

- Only practice STI screening and management within their own level of competency and training. If GPs feel out of their depth refer or sign post to GUM services.²⁰
- Promote `the safer sex message' to patients of all sexual orientations.
- Be able to take an appropriate and confidential sexual history to assess risk of STIs in patients of all sexual orientations.²¹
- Be mindful that WSW or MSM may not always identify as L, G or B.
- Offer STI testing on the basis of risk rather than sexual orientation.
- Be aware that if the patient is symptomatic they need to be offered a genital examination or referred to GUM.²²
- Check if the patient needs assistance in accessing an appointment with GUM services and act as an advocate if appropriate.
- Make themselves aware of their local level 3 GUM service and community based services which can offer some STI testing – such as Brook NI clinic (male <25, female <20), The Rainbow Project (male only), outreach testing in Gay venues (GUM and Rainbow) and walk in MSM clinics in GUM. See www.sexualhealthni.info* for range of services.

When taking a sexual history you should consider the following guidance (see appendix 1):²¹

- 1. Ask to see the patient alone as this will reduce embarrassment and enhance disclosure.
- 2. Obtain consent and warn about the nature of the questions e.g. "I need to ask you some personal questions to help me advise you on the correct STI tests for you, would that be ok?".

- 3. Normalise the process e.g. "We ask these questions to everyone with similar symptoms/ difficulties".
- 4. Be non-judgemental and emphasise confidentiality.
- 5. Try not to make assumptions about sexual practice or risk of STIs before you ask the questions.
- 6. Avoid the terminology of LGB unless the patient identifies as such.
- 7. The language used should be professional but can be individualised for the patient or health practitioner.

STI screening should not necessarily be the first thing the clinician offers when a patient 'comes out'. In order to understand the risks a patient might be taking it is important to take a more holistic view of their health. Engaging in high sexual risk behaviour may be an indication of other underlying problems, such as deteriorating mental health, social exclusion or substance misuse. Being LGB is not a psychosexual problem; however some LGB patients may have a psychosexual problem or suffer with sexual dysfunction? The clinician may have to explore this in the same way as with their heterosexual patients and make appropriate referrals.

Men who have Sex with Men (MSM)

49.5% of gay men in Northern Ireland have never had an HIV test.

UK Gay Men's Sex Survey – EMIS²³

MSM may be in long term relationships in which both partners have had repeated negative testing for STIs. Not all MSM will identify as Gay or Bisexual. MSM are disproportionately affected by STIs and HIV in Northern Ireland and STIs are on the rise here?⁴²⁵ Infectious Syphilis is endemic in Northern Ireland with highest rates in MSM.²⁴

Table 1 - STIs in MSM in Northern Ireland 2013.^{24 25}

STI	Percentage of new diagnosis in 2013 attributable to MSM.
HIV (male and female)	65%
Syphilis (male and female)	83%
Chlamydia (male)	12%
Gonorrhoea (male)	46%
Genital Herpes (male)	23%
Genital Warts (male)	9%

An estimated 1 in 5 people living with HIV in the UK are undiagnosed and it is believed that most HIV infections are transmitted by those as yet undiagnosed.^{26 27} MSM who have been surveyed by Stonewall about their sexual health have disclosed that they have not been tested for STIs, including HIV, for a variety of reasons including, 'I don't think I'm at risk', 'I'm too scared to test', 'I'm too busy to get tested', 'I have no symptoms of infections' or purely because they have poor access to services.⁷ Conversely, MSM reported mostly being tested for HIV after an experience that they had classified as 'risky' or having symptoms that they attributed to an STI.²⁸

BASHH standards for management of STIs recommend that all MSM STI screening and treatment should be managed at a Level 3 GUM service (consultant led), due to the sometimes complicated nature of the patient's needs.²² GP surgeries should work with GUM services to provide screening if a patient declines GUM appointment or is having difficulty attending GUM. Community based services with strong links to GUM can also offer some services for these patients e.g. The Rainbow Project (rapid access HIV and syphilis testing service male only) and Brook NI (for <25s).

NICE guidance suggests that primary care providers should ensure annual HIV testing is offered to men who are known to have sex with men.²⁹ This is not necessarily easy to do at a practice population level and raises issues with coding of sexual practice and sexual orientation in GP records. Emphasis has been shifted away from pre-test counselling towards normalisation of the test and increasingly offering the test.³⁰ Thought should be given to the practice systems regarding HIV testing e.g. how should the test result be given to the patient? How should the result be coded?³¹

All MSM should be offered a 3 series course of Hepatitis A+B vaccinations (e.g. Twinrix Adult®) free on the NHS.^{32 33 34} Accelerated courses should be offered initially to aid completion of the course. There are various accelerated schedules including 0, 7, 21 days with booster at 12 months and 0, 1, 2, 12 months.³⁵ This may cover MSM for up to 10 years, but titres need to be checked. It is important that GPs and GP employed nurses differentiate between these vaccinations schedules and travel vaccinations.

The Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) has recently recommended that the HPV vaccine should be offered to MSM aged 16 to 40 in England.³⁶ Although not currently available in Northern Ireland, GPs should be aware that the HPV vaccination programme may be changed to reflect this recommendation in the future.

GPs should be aware that MSM patients:

- Should ideally be managed at a Level 3 GUM service (consultant led).²²
- Could be offered opportunistic HIV testing in primary care.
- Having unprotected sex with casual or new partners should have an HIV/Hepatitis B+C/ Syphilis/STI screen at least annually or every 3 months if changing partners regularly.
- May require triple site (urine, pharyngeal, anal) testing for Chlamydia and Gonorrhoea based on sexual practice.²²
- Should be offered a free accelerated course Hepatitis A+B vaccination and booster based on immunity.

Post-Exposure Prophylaxis (PEP)

PEP is cost effective for high risk HIV exposure and unprotected anal sex in MSM. PEPSE 2011 – BHIVA³⁷

Post-Exposure Prophylaxis or PEP (sometimes referred to as PEPSE or Post-Exposure Prophylaxis after Sexual Exposure) is a 28 day course of antiviral tablets prescribed following high risk exposure to HIV.³⁷ Its aim is to prevent HIV becoming established in the T-memory cells if the virus has been transmitted. Treatment with PEP must be given within 72 hours, but the earlier after exposure it is commenced the more effective it will be.³⁷ PEP can only be accessed in GUM and A+E. When a patient presents requesting PEP a sexual history will be taken and the risks versus benefits of PEP will be discussed. If PEP is deemed appropriate, baseline tests including HIV, Hepatitis immunity and renal function will be taken before medication is provided.³⁷ Likely side effects and the importance of adherence to the regimen and attendance for follow up will be explained.

As a GP or GP employed nurse you should:

- Be able to assess the patient's risk of HIV exposure in the preceding 72hrs or contact GUM for advice. See appendix 2.³⁷
- Refer at risk patients to GUM urgently for same day assessment if you believe PEP should be discussed.
- Refer the patient to A&E for PEP if it is out of hours for GUM.

Lesbian and Bisexual (LB) Women and Sexual Health

Less than half of lesbian and bisexual women have ever been tested for an STI.

Prescription for Change – Stonewall⁸

Lesbian and female bisexual patients often report they don't feel at risk of STIs, are too scared to get tested or have been told by a healthcare worker that they don't need tested.⁸ Not all WSW will identify as L, G or B. Patients that identify as lesbian or bisexual may be having or have had sex with a man in the past.⁸ Conversely, women who identify as heterosexual may be having sex or have had sex with a woman.

LB women have both oral and penetrative sex and can share fluids through hands, mouth and sex toys.⁸ Although Bacterial Vaginosis (BV) can occur without sexual contact it is commonly sexually transmitted between LB women.⁸ Thrush can also be transmitted by sexual contact in LB women.

All STIs can be transferred between women.⁸ LB patients can get pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) most commonly from Chlamydia infection. Given the risks of untreated PID, suspected PID should be treated.²⁰

Fertility Issues

LB women may present requesting referral to fertility clinics. The NHS can help with donor insemination or in vitro fertilisation (IVF) but this is very limited. To be eligible, you need to be trying to get pregnant without medical help for at least two years and it must be proven that you have a medical condition that makes conception difficult.³⁸ Private fertility clinics provide services such as intrauterine insemination (IUI) and IVF with donated sperm but this method can be very costly.³⁸ Many LB women choose self-insemination to conceive. This raises issues of safety and the health of the sperm donor.³⁸

GPs and GP employed nurses should:

- Consider screening and treating female partners of women with BV.
- Offer women information about safer sex practices to reduce risk of acquiring STIs regardless of their sexual orientation.

Conclusion

LGB patients face minority pressure, stigmatisation and the pressure of 'coming out' on a daily basis. They have higher rates of depression, self-harm and suicide. They are more likely to smoke, take alcohol to excess and take illegal drugs. Their complex needs in primary care go far beyond STI screening. These guidelines aim to suggest ways in which practices can be more inclusive, allowing patients to self-disclose if they choose to and improve health outcomes as a result.

Additional Resources

The Rainbow Project: The Rainbow Project works to improve the health and wellbeing of LGB&/T people in Northern Ireland. They have offices in Belfast and L'Derry. The core services they provide are: counselling, health promotion, sexual health advice, education and training, support and advocacy and personal development. They are instrumental in influencing policy and lobbying policy makers in concerned campaigns. They provide sexual orientation awareness training to organisations.

W: www.rainbow-project.org T: 02890 319030 E: info@rainbow-project.org

HERe NI: HERe NI specifically supports lesbian and bisexual women and their families. They have a range of peer support groups across the country. One to one support is also available on request. A range of information sessions are also provided throughout the year ranging from fertility information to LB women's legal rights. They provide sexual orientation training to organisations.

W: www.hereni.org T: 02890 249452 E: hello@hereni.org

Cara-Friend: Cara-Friend was established as a voluntary counselling, befriending, information, health and social space organisation for the LGBTQ (questioning) community. They now bring together all ages, all genders and sexual orientations under one umbrella. They facilitate Gay Lesbian Youth NI and LGBTNI switchboard. They advocate on behalf of the LGBTQ community with the media, churches, government departments and politicians.

W: www.cara-friend.org.uk T: 02890 890202 E: admin@cara-friend.org.uk

Want to find out what is going on across NI? Go to www.lgbtni.org for meetings and events.

Support for parents:

Family ties project: http://www.familytiesproject.org.uk/whatproject.html Parenting NI: http://www.parentingni.org/projects/parentingforum/documents/-Factsheet20GuidanceforParentsLGB.pdf

Sexual Health Services in Northern Ireland: www.sexualhealthni.info*

Appendix 1

Minimum data for sexual history taking adapted from UK national guideline for consultations requiring sexual history taking (BASHH, 2013).²¹

Minimum sexual history for symptomatic female patient attending for STI testing.

- Symptoms / reason for attendance.
- Date of last sexual contact (LSC), partner's gender, anatomic sites of exposure, condom use and any suspected infection, infection risk or symptoms in this partner.
- Previous sexual partner details, as for LSC, if in the last three months and a note of total number of partners in last three months if more than two.
- Previous STIs.
- Last menstrual period (LMP) and menstrual pattern, contraceptive and cervical cytology history.
- Pregnancy and gynaecological history.
- Blood-borne virus risk assessment and vaccination history for those at risk.
- Past medical and surgical history.
- Medication history and history of drug allergies.
- Agree the method of giving results.
- Establish competency, safeguarding children/vulnerable adults.
- Recommend/consider recognition of gender-based violence/intimate partner violence.
- Alcohol and recreational drug history.

Minimum sexual history for symptomatic male patient attending for STI testing.

- Symptoms / reason for attendance.
- Last sexual contact, partner's gender, anatomic sites of exposure and condom use, any suspected infection, infection risk or symptoms in this partner.
- Previous sexual partner details as for LSC, if in the last three months, and a note of total number of partners in last three months if more than two.
- Previous STIs.
- Blood-borne virus risk assessment and vaccination history for those at risk.
- Past medical and surgical history.
- Medication history and history of drug allergies.
- Agree method of giving results.
- Establish competency, safeguarding children/vulnerable adults.
- Recommend/consider recognition of gender-based violence/intimate partner violence.
- Alcohol and recreational drug history.

Appendix 2

Table to assist clinicians in assessment for PEP, adapted from UK guideline for the use of post-exposure prophylaxis for HIV following sexual exposure (Int J STD AIDS 2011).³⁷

Situations when post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) is considered

	Source HIV status			
	HIV-positive			
	Viral load detectable	Viral load undetectable	Unknown from high prevalence group/area*	Unknown from low prevalence group/area
Receptive anal sex	Recommend	Recommend	Recommend	Not recommended
Insertive anal sex	Recommend	Not recommended	Consider ⁺	Not recommended
Receptive vaginal sex	Recommend	Not recommended	Consider+	Not recommended
Insertive vaginal sex	Recommend	Not recommended	Consider+	Not recommended
Fellatio with ejaculation‡	Consider	Not recommended	Not recommended	Not recommended
Fellatio without ejaculation [‡]	Not recommended	Not recommended	Not recommended	Not recommended
Splash of semen into eye	Consider	Not recommended	Not recommended	Not recommended
Cunnilingus	Not recommended	Not recommended	Not recommended	Not recommended
Sharing of injecting equipment	Recommended	Not recommended	Consider	Not recommended
Human bite§	Not recommended	Not recommended	Not recommended	Not recommended
Needlestick from a discarded needle in the community			Not recommended	Not recommended

- *High prevalence groups within this recommendation are those where there is a significant likelihood of the source individual being HIV-positive. Within the UK at present, this is likely to be men who have sex with men and individuals who have immigrated to the UK from areas of high HIV prevalence (particularly sub-Saharan Africa)
- * More detailed knowledge of local prevalence of HIV within communities may change these recommendations from consider to recommended in areas of particularly high HIV prevalence
- *PEP* is not recommended for individuals receiving fellatio i.e. inserting their penis into another's oral cavity
- [§]A bite is assumed to constitute breakage of the skin with passage of blood

References

1. RCGPNI LGB&/T Working Group. Guidelines for the care of Trans* Patients in Primary Care. RCGPNI. In Press

2. Integrated Household Survey. Office for National Statistics, 2013.

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/integrated-household-survey/integrated-household-survey/january-to-december-2013/index.html

3. Stonewall LGB prevalence estimate:

http://www.stonewall.org.uk/at_home/sexual_orientation_faqs/2694.asp

4. O'Hara M. Through Our Minds: Exploring the Emotional Health and wellbeing of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender people in Northern Ireland. The Rainbow Project, 2013.

http://www.rainbowproject.org/assets/publications/through%20our%20minds.pdf

5. Guasp, A. Lesbian, Gay and Bisexual People in Later Life. Stonewall, 2011.

http://www.stonewall.org.uk/documents/lgb_in_later_life_final.pdf

 Quiery M. Invisible Women: A Review of the Impact of Discrimination and Social Exclusion on Lesbian and Bisexual women's health in Northern Ireland. Lesbian Advocacy Services Initiative, 2007.

http://hereni.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/invisible_women.pdf

7. Guasp A. Gay and Bisexual Men's health survey. Stonewall, 2011. http://www.stone

wall.org.uk/what_we_do/research_and_policy/health_and_healthcare/4922.asp

8. Hunt R, Fish J. Prescription for change: Lesbian and bisexual women's health check. Stonewall, 2008.

http://www.stonewall.org.uk/what_we_do/research_and_policy/health_and_healthcare/3101.asp

9.Cervical screening: it's best to take the test, updated guidance. Public Health Agency and DHSPSS, 2012.

http://www.cancerscreening.hscni.net/pdf/Cervical_take_test_08_11.pdf

10. Introduction of HPV testing to the Northern Ireland cervical screening programme. Public Health Agency and DHSPPS, 2012.

http://www.dhsspsni.gov.uk/hss-md-29-2012.pdf

11. The Northern Ireland Breast Screening Programme: Guide for professionals. Public Health Agency and DHSPPS, 2014.

http://www.cancerscreening.hscni.net/pdf/Breast_Screening_Helping_You_Decide_LR_01_14.pdf

12. Rooney E. All Partied Out? Substance Use in Northern Ireland's Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Community. The Rainbow Project, 2012.

http://www.rainbowproject.org/assets/publications/All%20Partied%20Out.pdf

13. Continuous Household Survey 2009/1010, Bulletin page 4. Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency (NISRA), 2010.

http://www.csu.nisra.gov.uk/survey.asp2.htm

14. Research advisory group. Drug Use in Ireland and Northern Ireland: First Results from the 2010/2011 Drug Prevalence Survey Bulletin 1. National Advisory Committee on Drugs (NACD), Public Health Information and Research Branch (PHIRB), 2011.

http://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/16353/1/drug_use_ireland.pdf

15. Bourne A, Reid D, Hickson F, Torres Rueda S, Weatherburn P. The Chemsex Study: drug use in sexual settings among gay and bisexual men in Lambeth, Southwark & Lewisham. Sigma Research, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, 2014.

http://www.sigmaresearch.org.uk/files/report2014b.pdf

16. Adult Drinking Patterns Survey Report page 11. DHSSPSNI, 2011.

17. King M, Semlyen J, Tai SS, Killaspy H, Osborn D, Popelyuk D, Nazareth I. A systematic review of mental disorder, suicide, and deliberate self harm in lesbian, gay and bisexual people. BMC Psychiatry 2008;8(70)

18. UK Council for Psychotherapy statement.

http://www.ukcp.org.uk/UKCP_Documents/policy/Conversion%20therapy.pdf

19. RCPSYCH statement.

http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/RCPsychposstatementsexorientation.pdf

20. Lazaro N. Sexually Transmitted Infections in Primary Care. RCGP and BASHH, 2nd edition 2013.

http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/sexually-transmitted-infections-in-primary-care.aspx

21. Brook G, Bacon L, Evans C, McClean H, Roberts C, Tipple C, Sullivan A, Winter A. BASHH Clinical Effectiveness Group. UK national guideline for consultations requiring sexual history taking. International Journal of STD & AIDS, 2014;25(6):391-404 22. Standards for the management of sexually transmitted infections (STIs). BASHH, MEDFASH, Revised and updated Jan 2014.

http://www.medfash.org.uk/uploads/files/p18dtqli8116261rv19i61rh9n2k4.pdf

23. The UK Gay Men's Sex Survey Northern Ireland region of residence data report. EMIS, 2011.

http://www.sigmaresearch.org.uk/files/local/All_NorthernIreland_2010.pdf

24. Sexually Transmitted Infection surveillance in Northern Ireland 2014 - An analysis of data for the calendar year 2013. Public Health Agency, 2014.

http://www.publichealth.hscni.net/sites/default/files/directorates/files/STI%20surveillance%20report%202014.pdf

25. HIV surveillance in Northern Ireland 2014 - An analysis of data for the calendar year 2013. Public Health Agency 2014.

http://www.publichealth.hscni.net/sites/default/files/directorates/files/HIV_surveillance_report_2014.pdf

26. Sexually transmitted infections and chlamydia screening in England, 2013. HPE, ed. Health Protection Report, 2013.

27. Aghaizu A BA, Nardone A, Gill ON, Delpech VC & contributors. HIV in the United Kingdom 2013 Report: data to end 2012. England PH, ed. London, 2013.

28. Lorenc T, Marrero-Guillamón I, Llewellyn A, Aggleton P, Cooper C, Lehmann A, Lindsay C. HIV testing among men who have sex with men (MSM): systematic review of qualitative evidence. Health Educ Res 2011;26(5):834-846

29. NICE guidelines (PH34). Increasing the uptake of HIV testing among men who have sex with men. NICE, 2011.

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph34

30. UK National Guidelines for HIV Testing 2008. British HIV Association, BASHH and British

Infection Society, 2008. http://www.bhiva.org/documents/guidelines/testing/gline-shivtest08.pdf

31. Madge S, Matthews P, Singh S, Theobald N. HIV in Primary Care, 2nd edition. MedFASH, 2011.

http://www.medfash.org.uk/uploads/files/p17abjng1g9t9193h1rsl75uuk53.pdf

32. Hepatitis B Vaccine. NHS, 2014.

http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/vaccinations/Pages/hepatitis-b-vaccine.aspx

33. Hepatitis A: the Green Book, Chapter 17. Public Health England, 2013.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/263309/Green_Book_Chapter_17_v2_0.pdf 34. Hepatitis B: the green book, chapter 18. Public Health England, 2013.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/263311/Green_Book_Chapter_18_v2_0.pdf

35. BASHH Clinical Effectiveness Group. United Kingdom National Guideline on the Management of the Viral Hepatitides A, B & C 2008. BASHH, 2008.

http://www.bashh.org/documents/1927.pdf

36. Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) interim position statement on HPV vaccination of men who have sex with men (MSM). Department of Health and Public Health England, 2014.

37. Benn P, Fisher M, Kulasegaram R on behalf PEPSE Guidelines Writing Group, BASHH Clinical Effectiveness Group. UK guideline for the use of post-exposure prophylaxis for HIV following sexual exposure. Int J STD AIDS 2011;22:695–708.

http://www.bhiva.org/documents/guidelines/pepse/pepse2011.pdf

38. O'Doherty J, McCann C, Williamson S. Northern Ireland LGBT Sector Scoping Exercise - 2013. The Rainbow Project, HERe NI, Cara-Friend, 2013.

Acknowledgements

The Royal College of General Practitioners NI would like to thank the following organisations and individuals for their help and support in developing these guidelines.

Irish College of General Practitioners Public Health Agency Northern Ireland Jill Brennan, RCGPNI & ROI Manager Deirdre McNamee, Health and Social Well-Being Improvement, Senior Officer, PHA Dr John O'Kelly, Chair RCGPNI Catherine Tumelty MBA, RCGPNI Administrative Lead

LGB&/T Working Group

Mary Charlton RMN, RNLD, BSc, BSc Specialist Practice (CBT) Dip (PG), HSSM. Senior Cognitive Behavioural Psychotherapist, Brackburn Clinic, Regional Gender Identity & Psychosexual Service Dr Nancy Conroy MBCHB, MRCGP, DFSRH, DIPM. General Practitioner, Sessional Doctor, Brook NI James Copeland PGCE, BA. Sexual Health Development Officer and Volunteer Coordinator, The Rainbow Project Dr Janet Corry MB, BCh, MRCPsych. Consultant Psychiatrist, Brackenburn Clinic, Regional Gender Identity & Psychosexual Service Dr Mark Holloway MRCGP. General Practitioner and Project Clinical Lead. Dr Carolyn Mason BA, PhD, RN, RHV. Head of Professional Development, Royal College of Nursing Cara McCann BA, MA. Coordinator, HERe NI Mark Nolan MA, PGCTHE, BSc (Hons), ICSA. Lay Member Dr Alok Sahu MD, MRCGP, MPhil, DMH. General Practitioner Simon Stewart, Director SAIL (Support, Acceptance, Information, Learning)

Consultation Group Members

Dr Kathleen Cairns MB, BCh, MRCGP, DRCOG. General Practitioner Dr Tracey Cruickshanks MRCGP. General Practitioner Dr Fergus Donaghy FRCGP, M. Med. Sci. General Practitioner Dr Carol Emerson FRCP Edin, Dip HIV, Dip GUM. Consultant Genitourinary and HIV medicine, Honorary Lecturer, Royal Group Hospitals Dr Shauna Fannin FRCGP. RCGP NI Deputy Chair Policy, General Practitioner Dr Emma J McCarty MRCP, FESCM DipGUM DipHIV. Consultant Physician GU & HIV Medicine, Belfast HSC Trust Dr Helen Sherrey MB, BCH, BAO, MRCGP. General Practitioner Claire McCaffrey Brooke Clevenger Jan Ashe Ellen Murray N. O'Connor

Declared Interests: No relevant interests were declared

The Royal College of General Practitioners (Northern Ireland) is a network of over 1285 family doctors working to improve care for patients. We work to encourage and maintain the highest standards of general medical practice and act as the voice of GPs on education, training, research and clinical standards.



Royal College of General Practitioners **Royal College of General Practitioners** 4 Cromac Place, Belfast, BT7 2JB Telephone: 020 3188 7722 Website: www.rcgp.org.uk

Royal College of General Practitioners is a registered charity in England and Wales (number 223106) and Scotland (number SC040430)

Copyright © 2015 Royal College of General Practitioners